
 

 
UNITED STATES 

NUCLEAR REGULATORY COMMISSION 
REGION IV 

1600 E LAMAR BLVD 
ARLINGTON, TX 76011-4511 

 
October 10, 2014 

 
EA-10-160 
EA-12-135 
 
 
Mr. Adam C. Heflin, President 
  and Chief Executive Officer 
Wolf Creek Nuclear Operating Corporation 
P.O. Box 411 
Burlington, KS  66839 
 
SUBJECT: WOLF CREEK GENERATING STATION – NRC PROBLEM IDENTIFICATION 

AND RESOLUTION INSPECTION REPORT 05000482/2014007 
 
Dear Mr. Heflin: 

On August 28, 2014, the U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC) completed a problem 
identification and resolution biennial inspection at your Wolf Creek Generating Station.  On 
June 6, 2014, the NRC inspection team debriefed the results of this inspection with you and 
other members of your staff.  On August 28, 2014, an exit meeting discussing the results of the 
inspection was presented to Mr. C. Reasoner and other members of your staff.  Subsequently, 
on October 9, 2014, a re-exit meeting discussing a change in a cross-cutting aspect was 
presented to Mr. S. Koenig and other members of your staff.  The inspection team documented 
the results of this inspection in the enclosed inspection report. 
 
Based on the inspection samples, the inspection team determined that Wolf Creek Generating 
Station’s corrective action program, and your staff’s implementation of the corrective action 
program, were adequate to support nuclear safety. 
 
In reviewing your corrective action program, the team assessed how well your staff identified 
problems at a low threshold, your staff’s implementation of the station’s process for prioritizing 
and evaluating these problems, and the effectiveness of corrective actions taken by the station 
to resolve these problems.  The team also evaluated other processes your staff used to identify 
issues for resolution.  These included your use of audits and self-assessments to identify latent 
problems and your incorporation of lessons learned from industry operating experience into 
station programs, processes, and procedures.  The team determined that your station’s 
performance in each of these areas supported nuclear safety.  However, correction of essential 
service water system problems was still untimely, even though progress had been made.  In 
addition, your staff was not following the operating experience program by failing to review 
external licensee event reports and initiate a condition report to capture those that potentially 
affect the facility.  Instead, your staff relied on a third party to issue an Event Report for each 
external licensee event report.  However, the third party does not issue an Event Report for 
each licensee event report. 
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Finally, the team determined that your station’s management maintains a safety-conscious work 
environment in which your employees are willing to raise nuclear safety concerns through at 
least one of the several means available. 
 
NRC inspectors documented four findings of very low safety significance (Green) in this report. 
Three of these findings involved violations of NRC requirements.  The NRC is treating these 
violations as non-cited violations (NCVs) consistent with Section 2.3.2.a of the NRC 
Enforcement Policy. 
 
If you contest the violations or significance of these NCVs, you should provide a response within 
30 days of the date of this inspection report, with the basis for your denial, to the U.S. Nuclear 
Regulatory Commission, ATTN:  Document Control Desk, Washington, DC 20555-0001; with 
copies to the Regional Administrator, Region IV; the Director, Office of Enforcement, 
U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission, Washington, DC 20555-0001; and the NRC resident 
inspector at the Wolf Creek Generating Station. 
 
If you disagree with a cross-cutting aspect assignment or a finding not associated with a 
regulatory requirement in this report, you should provide a response within 30 days of the date 
of this inspection report, with the basis for your disagreement, to the Regional Administrator, 
Region IV; and the NRC resident inspector at the Wolf Creek Generating Station. 
 
In accordance with Title 10 of the Code of Federal Regulations (10 CFR) 2.390, “Public 
Inspections, Exemptions, Requests for Withholding,” a copy of this letter, its enclosure, and your 
response (if any) will be available electronically for public inspection in the NRC’s Public 
Document Room or from the Publicly Available Records (PARS) component of the NRC's 
Agencywide Documents Access and Management System (ADAMS).  ADAMS is accessible 
from the NRC Web site at http://www.nrc.gov/reading-rm/adams.html (the Public Electronic 
Reading Room). 
 

Sincerely, 
 
Donald B. Allen/RA/for 
 
 
Geoffrey B. Miller 
Chief, Technical Support Branch 
Division of Reactor Safety 

 
Docket No.:  50-482 
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SUMMARY 
 
IR 05000482/2014007; 05/19/2014 – 08/28/2014; Wolf Creek Generating Station; Problem 
Identification and Resolution (Biennial) 
 
The inspection activities described in this report were performed between May 19 and 
August 28, 2014, by four inspectors from the NRC’s Region IV office, the resident inspector at 
the Wolf Creek Generating Station and the resident inspector at the Callaway Plant.  The report 
documents four findings of very low safety significance (Green).  Three of these findings 
involved violations of NRC requirements.  The significance of inspection findings is indicated by 
their color (Green, White, Yellow, or Red), which is determined using Inspection Manual 
Chapter 0609, “Significance Determination Process,” dated June 2, 2011.  Their cross-cutting 
aspects are determined using Inspection Manual Chapter 0310, “Aspects Within Cross-Cutting 
Areas,” dated December 19, 2013.  Violations of NRC requirements are dispositioned in 
accordance with the NRC Enforcement Policy.  The NRC's program for overseeing the safe 
operation of commercial nuclear power reactors is described in NUREG-1649, “Reactor 
Oversight Process.” 
 
Assessment of Problem Identification and Resolution 
 
Based on its inspection sample, the team concluded that the licensee maintained a corrective 
action program in which individuals generally identified issues at an appropriately low threshold.  
Once entered into the corrective action program, the licensee generally evaluated and 
addressed these issues appropriately and timely, commensurate with their safety significance.  
The licensee’s corrective actions were generally effective, addressing the causes and extent of 
condition of problems.  However, correction of essential service water system problems was still 
untimely even though progress had been made.  
 
The licensee appropriately evaluated industry operating experience for relevance to the facility 
and entered applicable items in the corrective action program.  The licensee incorporated 
industry and internal operating experience in its root cause and apparent cause evaluations.  
The licensee performed effective and self-critical nuclear oversight audits and self-assessments. 
The licensee maintained an effective process to ensure significant findings from these audits 
and self-assessments were addressed.  However, the team did identify that the licensee was 
not following the operating experience program by failing to review external licensee event 
reports and initiate a condition report to capture those that potentially affect the facility.  
 
The licensee maintained a safety-conscious work environment in which personnel were willing 
to raise nuclear safety concerns without fear of retaliation. 
 
Cornerstone:  Mitigating Systems 
 

• Green.  The inspectors identified a non-cited violation of 10 CFR Part 50, Appendix B, 
Criterion V, “Instructions, Procedures, and Drawings,” for the licensee’s failure to 
perform operability determinations on degraded boundaries with credited compensatory 
measures in accordance with Wolf Creek Procedure AP 26C-004, “Operability 
Determination and Functionality Assessment.”  Specifically, operations staff were 
stationing boundary watches to shut blocked open doors credited for maintaining 
operability of safety related components in the event of a high-energy line break in the 
turbine building.  There was no reasonable assurance that an operator would be able to 
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close these doors during a high-energy line break event.  This violation is documented in 
CR-87666. 

 
The failure to perform operability determinations on degraded high-energy line break 
boundaries is a performance deficiency.  This performance deficiency is more than 
minor because it affected the configuration control attribute of the Mitigating Systems 
Cornerstone objective to ensure the availability, reliability, and capability of systems that 
respond to initiating events to prevent undesirable consequences.  Using NRC 
Inspection Manual 0609, Appendix A, “The Significance Determination Process (SDP) 
for Findings At-Power,” dated June 19, 2012, the finding was determined to be of very 
low safety significance because the finding is a deficiency in the qualification of the 
mitigating system and a licensee evaluation determined that affected system was 
maintained operable.  The finding has a cross-cutting aspect in resources in the human 
performance cross-cutting area because the licensee failed to ensure that procedures 
were adequate to support nuclear safety.  Specifically, Wolf Creek Procedure 
AP 10 104, “Breech Authorization,” Revision 30, led operators to believe that operability 
determinations were not required for degraded boundaries and that a boundary watch 
was an adequate compensatory measure for a high-energy line break, despite clear 
guidance to the contrary in Procedure AP 26C-004 [H.1]. (Section 4OA2.5.a) 

 
• Green.  The inspectors identified a violation of 10 CFR Part 50, Appendix B, Criterion XI, 

“Test Control,” for the licensee’s failure to include the containment coolers in the heat 
exchanger inspection program that would demonstrate their leak tight integrity and 
capability to perform their safety function.  During the period since the last problem and 
identification program inspection, the licensee had not implemented any means to 
assess the amount of corrosion in the tubing to support continued assurance of 
operability of containment coolers.  Containment cooler operability earlier this year was 
the subject of NRC inspectors’ questions due to the lack of inspection and testing of the 
containment coolers.  The containment coolers were subsequently hydrostatically tested 
to assure operability for a limited period of time.  The licensee entered this finding in its 
corrective action program as CR-87668. 

 
The failure to include the containment coolers in the heat exchanger inspection program 
to demonstrate their leak tight integrity and capability to perform their safety function is a 
performance deficiency.  The deficiency was more than minor because it was associated 
with the equipment performance attribute of the Mitigating Systems Cornerstone and it 
adversely affects the objective to ensure the availability, reliability, and capability of 
systems that respond to initiating events to prevent undesirable consequences.  
Therefore, the performance deficiency is a finding.  The inspectors performed the 
significance determination using NRC Inspection Manual Chapter 0609, Attachment 4, 
“Initial Characterization of Findings,” dated June 19, 2012, and Appendix A, “The 
Significance Determination Process (SDP) For Findings At-Power,” dated  
June 19, 2012.  Using Appendix A, Exhibit 2, the inspectors determined that the finding 
was of very low safety significance (Green) because the finding was a design or 
qualification deficiency that was confirmed, not to result in loss of system operability or 
functionality.  Any leaks that had occurring during this period were isolated or repaired 
such that the containment coolers were restored to operable status prior to exiting 
outages.  In addition, the inspectors determined that the finding also had a potential to 
bypass the containment barrier, if containment pressure, in a loss of coolant accident, 
was greater than essential service water pressure in a containment cooler tube with a 
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leak.  Therefore, the inspectors evaluated the finding using NRC Inspection Manual 
Chapter 0609 Appendix H, “Containment Integrity Significance Determination process” 
dated May 6, 2004.  It was determined that this is a Type B finding since there is no 
impact on delta core damage frequency.  During Phase 1 screening, the finding does not 
screen out, because a pinhole leak can be considered a breach of a containment 
penetration.  A Phase 2 assessment was performed assuming greater than a 30-day 
exposure.  Essential service water (cooling water running through the containment 
cooler tubes) pressure was determined to be greater than the maximum containment 
pressure during a design basis accident.  This would cause no leakage from 
containment to environment.  Additionally, analysis shows any leakage would be less 
than 100 percent containment volume/day through a pinhole leak.  Therefore, this 
resulted in a Green finding.  This finding has a cross-cutting aspect of identification in the 
problem identification and resolution area, associated with individuals identifying issues 
completely in accordance with the corrective action program.  Licensee staff failed to 
identify that the lack of non-destructive inspection for the containment coolers was an 
item that required corrective action program implementation [P.1]. (Section 4OA2.5.c) 

 
• Green.  The inspectors identified a finding for the licensee’s failure to follow the 

operating experience program’s requirement to review external licensee event reports, 
and initiate a condition report for those potentially applicable to Wolf Creek.  The 
licensee had discontinued reviewing external licensee event reports and writing 
condition reports, contrary to Procedure AP-20E-001, “Industry Operating Experience 
Program,” Revision 25.  Instead, the program relied upon the receipt of a third party’s 
report prior to initiating a condition report.  The inspectors determined that the third party 
does not submit a report for every nuclear power plant licensee event report.  During the 
inspection, the licensee conducted an extent of condition and entered the issue into its 
corrective action program as CR-87670. 

 
The licensee’s failure to follow the operating experience program’s requirement was a 
performance deficiency.  This performance deficiency is more than minor because if left 
uncorrected, it would have the potential to lead to a more significant safety concern.  
Specifically, the licensee’s failure to review external licensee event reports and initiate 
condition reports when potentially applicable to Wolf Creek, per Procedure AP-20E-001 
was a programmatic deficiency that could cause unacceptable conditions to go 
undetected.  In accordance with Inspection Manual Chapter 0609, Attachment 4, “Initial 
Characterization of Findings,” dated June 19, 2012, and Inspection Manual 
Chapter 0609 Appendix A, “The Significance Determination Process (SDP) for Findings 
At-Power,” dated June 19, 2012, the team determined the finding was most 
appropriately associated with the Mitigating System Cornerstone, and was of very low 
safety significance (Green) because the finding did not represent an actual loss of 
function.  This finding has a cross-cutting aspect of avoid complacency, because the 
licensee did not use error reduction tools to confirm that the third-party report contained 
all external licensee event reports [H.12]. (Section 4OA2.5.d.) 

 
Cornerstone:  Barrier Integrity 

 
• Green.  The inspectors reviewed a self-revealing violation of 10 CFR Part 50, 

Appendix B, Criterion XVI, “Corrective Actions,” for failure to prevent repetition of a 
significant condition adverse to quality related to reactor coolant system boundary 
leakage on April 20, 2014.  This violation is documented in CR-87667. 
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The failure to prevent the recurrence of a significant condition adverse to quality was a 
performance deficiency.  This performance deficiency was more than minor because it 
affected the reactor coolant system equipment and barrier performance attribute of the 
Barrier Integrity cornerstone objective.  Specifically, the failure to prevent the recurrence 
of high cycle fatigue, induced socket weld cracking resulting in reactor coolant system 
barrier leakage.  The inspectors assessed the significance of the issue using IMC 0609, 
Appendix G Attachment 1, “Shutdown Operations Significance Determination Process 
Phase 1 Initial Screening and Characterization of Findings,” dated May 9, 2014.  The 
finding was of very low safety significance (Green) because the finding did not cause a 
low temperature over pressurization, did not increase the potential for a freeze seal 
failure, did not involve steam generator nozzles dams, did not cause a boron dilution 
event, or degrade the ability to isolate a leak path.  The performance deficiency occurred 
in 2003, this finding is not indicative of current plant performance and does not have a 
cross-cutting aspect. (Section 4OA2.5.b) 

 
Other Findings and Violations 

 
None 
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REPORT DETAILS 
 
4. OTHER ACTIVITIES (OA) 
 
4OA2 Problem Identification and Resolution (71152) 
 
The team based the following conclusions on a sample of corrective action documents that were 
open during the assessment period, which ranged from May 26, 2012, to the end of the on-site 
portion of this inspection on June 6, 2014. 
 
.1  Assessment of the Corrective Action Program Effectiveness 
 

a. Inspection Scope   
 
The team reviewed approximately 250 condition reports, including associated root cause 
analyses and apparent cause evaluations, from approximately 31,302 that the licensee 
had initiated or closed between May 26, 2012 and June 3, 2014.  The majority of these 
reports (approximately 30,370), were lower-level condition reports that did not require 
cause evaluations.  The inspection sample focused on higher-significance condition 
reports for which the licensee evaluated and took actions to address the cause of the 
condition.  In performing its review, the team evaluated whether the licensee had 
properly identified, characterized, and entered issues into the corrective action program, 
and whether the licensee had appropriately evaluated and resolved the issues in 
accordance with established programs, processes, and procedures.  The team also 
reviewed these programs, processes, and procedures to determine if any issues existed 
that may impair their effectiveness.  
 
The team reviewed a sample of performance metrics, system health reports, operability 
determinations, self-assessments, trending reports and metrics, and various other 
documents related to the licensee’s corrective action program.  The team evaluated the 
licensee’s efforts in determining the scope of problems by reviewing selected logs, work 
orders, self-assessment results, audits, system health reports, action plans, and results 
from surveillance tests and preventive maintenance tasks.  The team reviewed daily 
condition reports and attended the licensee’s screening review team and senior 
leadership review team meetings to assess the reporting threshold and prioritization 
efforts, and to observe the corrective action program’s interfaces with the operability 
assessment and work control processes.  The team’s review included an evaluation of 
whether the licensee considered the full extent of cause and extent of condition for 
problems, as well as a review of how the licensee assessed generic implications and 
previous occurrences of issues.  The team assessed the timeliness and effectiveness of 
corrective actions, completed or planned, and looked for additional examples of 
problems similar to those the licensee had previously addressed.  The team conducted 
interviews with plant personnel to identify other processes that may exist where 
problems may be identified and addressed outside the corrective action program. 
 
The team reviewed corrective action documents that addressed past NRC-identified 
violations to evaluate whether corrective actions addressed the issues described in the 
inspection reports.  The team reviewed a sample of corrective actions closed to other 
corrective action documents to ensure that the ultimate corrective actions remained 
appropriate and timely. 
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The team considered risk insights from both the NRC’s and Wolf Creek Generating 
Station’s risk models to focus the sample selection and plant tours on risk-significant 
systems and components.  The team focused a portion of its sample on the emergency 
core cooling system, which the team selected for a five-year in-depth review.  The team 
conducted walk-downs of this system and other plant areas to assess whether licensee 
personnel identified problems at a low threshold and entered them into the corrective 
action program.  

 
b. Assessments 

 
1. Effectiveness of Problem Identification  

 
During the twenty-four month inspection period, licensee staff generated 
approximately 31,302 condition reports.  The team determined that most 
conditions that required generation of a condition report by Procedure 
AP 28A 100, “Condition Reports,” Revision 21, had been appropriately entered 
into the corrective action program.  However, the team noted one example where 
the licensee had failed to properly identify conditions in accordance with 
procedures; see Section 4OA2.2, “Assessment of the Use of Operating 
Experience,” for a detailed description. 
 
Overall, the team concluded that the licensee generally maintained a low 
threshold for the formal identification of problems and entry into the corrective 
action program for evaluation.  Licensee personnel initiated on average over 
1,304 condition reports per month during the inspection period.  However, a 
major construction project occurred during this time frame that increased the 
number of condition reports written.  The personnel interviewed by the team 
understood the requirements for condition report initiation and expressed a 
willingness to enter newly identified issues into the corrective action program at a 
very low threshold. 

 
2. Effectiveness of Prioritization and Evaluation of Issues  

 
The sample of condition reports reviewed by the team focused primarily on 
issues screened by the licensee as having higher-level significance, including 
those that received cause evaluations, those classified as significant conditions 
adverse to quality, and those that required engineering evaluations. 

 
Additionally, the team reviewed several condition reports that involved potential 
challenges to operability.  The team assessed the quality, timeliness, and 
prioritization of these operability assessments.  In general, the licensee 
completed these operability assessments adequately and evaluated operability 
appropriately.  The team did make the following observations: 

 
• There are two examples of operators depending on ambiguous guidance 

provided by Procedure AP 10-104, “Breach Authorization,” Revision 30, 
rather than Procedure AP 26C-004, “Operability Determination and 
Functionality Assessment,” Revision 29.  The first example was found when 
inspectors observed during a plant walkdown, that the turbine driven auxiliary 
feedwater pump room door and the train A motor driven auxiliary feedwater 
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pump room door, both had breach authorization forms due to seal leakage.  
These doors open into a common vestibule.  The motor driven pump’s breach 
authorization credited Procedure AP 10-104, as not being a high-energy line 
break (HELB) door and as such, no compensatory actions were required.  
This did not take into effect the turbine driven breach authorization that stated 
that the other doors in the auxiliary feedwater vestibule shall be maintained 
shut.  Operators were depending on Attachment A to Procedure AP 10-104, 
to inform their operability assessments vice using Procedure AP 26C-004, 
step 6.1.3, that required the evaluation of the aggregate impact of multiple 
degraded conditions.  A new operability evaluation determined that with the 
aggregate impact of both degraded doors the pumps remained operable.  
This was entered into the corrective action program as CR-84526.  The 
second example was found during the review of Procedure AP 10-104.  
Step 5.6.2 procedurally allowed a boundary watch as a compensatory 
measure to close a barrier breach in the event of a HELB. (Section 4OA2.5.a) 

 
• A weld at the inlet to vent valve EPV0109 failed in 2003 and again in 2014, 

both times due to the same root cause; cyclic stress fatigue.  
(Section 4OA2.5.b) 

 
• The licensee failed to properly evaluate and take corrective action to preclude 

repetition of heat exchanger tube leaks in the containment coolers. 
(Section 4OA2.5.c) 

 
Overall, the team determined that the licensee’s process for screening and 
prioritizing issues that had been entered into the corrective action program 
supported nuclear safety.  The licensee’s operability determinations were 
consistent, accurately documented, and completed in accordance with 
procedures. 

 
3.  Effectiveness of Corrective Actions 

 
  In general, the corrective actions identified by the licensee to address adverse 

 conditions were effective.  The team noted an instance in which corrective 
 actions had been untimely or incompletely accomplished: 

 
The licensee failed to take corrective actions to preclude repetition of system 
leaks due to water hammer events in the essential service water system.  
Extensive inadequately evaluated corrosion in the system led to multiple 
water-hammer-induced leaks of essential service water piping.  These leaks 
were the subject of three previous violations issued by the NRC.  However, 
the licensee had failed to take timely corrective actions to restore compliance. 

 
During normal operations, normal service water supplies components in the 
essential service water system.  During a loss of off-site power, normal 
service water pumps stop.  Approximately twenty-five seconds later, after the 
emergency diesel generators start and power the emergency buses, the 
essential service water pumps start to provide cooling water to the essential 
service water loads.  During these twenty-five seconds when no pumps are 
running, the essential service water system partially drains.  The starting of 
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the essential service water pumps rapidly fills the system and causes water 
hammer—a rapid pressure spike.  This pressure spike can cause leaks in 
eroded or corroded sections of essential service water piping. 

 
The licensee has had loss of off-site power events where piping leaks 
occurred due to this effect, as well as leaks during test-induced water 
hammer events.  On August 19, 2009, Wolf Creek Station experienced a loss 
of off-site power.  As a result of pump cycling during the event, several water-
hammer-induced leaks were initiated in degraded essential service water 
system piping.  On January 13, 2012, the Wolf Creek experienced another 
loss of off-site power.  Similar to the 2009 event, this loss of off-site power 
caused a water hammer of sufficient magnitude to cause a through-wall leak 
in corroded essential service water piping.  This leak occurred in the riser 
piping of the train C containment cooler. 

 
During this period, the licensee has taken action to address corroded 
essential service water piping.  The licensee implemented a program to 
non-destructively inspect the above ground large bore piping and accessible 
portions of essential service water piping located in underground bunkers.  
This program provided guidance to collect and analyze data to determine 
when repairs were required and when sections of piping would require 
replacement.  Another goal of the program was to identify leaks in buried 
essential service water piping, confirm the leakage existed using ground-
penetrating radar, and track repair and replacement of affected piping. 
 
As a result of the program, the licensee identified the piping containing the 
greatest proportion of localized corrosion.  Wolf Creek initiated piping 
replacements from 2011 to 2014 in an effort to address the situation. 
Replacement activities included: 

 
• 100 feet of above ground piping was replaced during refueling  

outage 18 (2011) 
 

• 500 feet of additional above ground piping was replaced in 
refueling outage 19 (2013) 

 
• All of the below-ground piping, and an additional 1500 feet of 

above-ground piping, was replaced during the mid-cycle outage 
20 (2014) 

 
The replacement of piping reduces the chance that system leaks will occur 
during loss of off-site power events.  However, in order to prevent them from 
happening, changes to the design of the essential service water system are 
necessary.  The drain down of the system needs to be addressed so that the 
water hammer effects are resolved. 
 
To this end, the licensee committed to take action affecting the system 
design.  In a letter from the licensee to the NRC on August 2, 2012, 
(WM 12-0023), Wolf Creek said that they “will mitigate adverse effects of 
column closure water hammer in the essential service water system to within 
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acceptable design parameters.”  A subsequent letter from the licensee to the 
NRC on June 27, 2013, (WM 13-0014) extended the completion date to the 
end of the mid-cycle 20 outage (May 9, 2014).  Shortly before this inspection 
(May 8, 2014, Letter WM 14-0011), the licensee informed the NRC that the 
system modification addressing this commitment would not be installed.  
During licensee review of design change package, critical deficiencies were 
identified that led them to the decision the modification would be inadequate.  
As a result, the licensee has not implemented corrective actions to preclude 
the effects of water hammer in the essential service water system. 
 
The licensee is developing a plan for implementing the remaining corrective 
actions for the essential service water system, as well as to address the 
lessons learned from the failures of their design control process to identify 
critical deficiencies earlier in their process.  The licensee entered these 
issues into the corrective action system in Condition Reports CR-79619 and 
CR-28474. 
 
The NRC previously issued Wolf Creek three violations for failures to 
adequately evaluate the essential service water system for corrosion and for 
the effects of water hammer on corroded areas:  NCV 05000482/2009007-03 
was identified during a special inspection following the 2009 water hammer 
event; VIO 05000482/2010006-05 was identified during the 2010 problem 
identification and resolution inspection; and VIO 05000482/2012007-03 was 
identified during the 2012 problem identification and resolution inspection.  
The second and third violations were cited because the licensee failed to 
restore compliance within a reasonable time following the identification of the 
first violation.  The licensee still has not restored compliance, therefore, 
VIO 05000482/2012007-03 will remain open. 

 
Overall, the team concluded that the licensee generally identified effective 
corrective actions for the problems evaluated in the corrective action program.  
The licensee generally implemented these corrective actions in a timely manner, 
commensurate with their safety significance, and reviewed the effectiveness of 
the corrective actions appropriately. 

 
.2 Assessment of the Use of Operating Experience  
 

a. Inspection Scope   
 
The team examined the licensee’s program for reviewing industry operating experience, 
including reviewing the governing procedures.  The team reviewed a sample of 37 
industry operating experience communications and the associated site evaluations to 
assess whether the licensee had appropriately assessed the communications for 
relevance to the facility.  The team also reviewed assigned actions to determine whether 
they were appropriate. 
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b. Assessment  
 

Overall, the team determined that the licensee appropriately evaluated operating 
experience for its relevance to the facility.  Operating experience information was 
incorporated into plant procedures and processes as appropriate. 
 
The team further determined that the licensee appropriately evaluated industry operating 
experience when performing root cause analysis and apparent cause evaluations.  The 
licensee appropriately incorporated both internal and external operating experience into 
lessons learned for training and pre-job briefs.  
 
The team did identify examples where the licensee was not following their procedures by 
failing to review external Licensee Event Reports and initiate a condition report to 
capture those potentially applicable to Wolf Creek (Section 4OA2.5.d). 

 
.3 Assessment of Self-Assessments and Audits 

    
a. Inspection Scope   

 
The team reviewed a sample of licensee self-assessments and audits to assess whether 
the licensee was regularly identifying performance trends and effectively addressing 
them.  The team also reviewed audit reports to assess the effectiveness of assessments 
in specific areas.  The specific self-assessment documents and audits reviewed are 
listed in Attachment 1. 

 
b. Assessment   

 
Overall, the team concluded that the licensee had an effective self-assessment and audit 
process.  The team determined that self-assessments were self-critical and thorough 
enough to identify deficiencies.  
 
Licensee management was involved in developing the topics and objectives of self-
assessments.  Attention was given to assigning team members with the proper skills and 
experience to do effective self-assessments and to include people from outside 
organizations.  Audits were self-critical and identified deficiencies in various program 
such as the corrective action program and several root cause evaluations.  Inspectors 
noted recent changes within the Quality Assurance Program to expand and split 
responsibilities between two groups, audits and assessments.  This seems to be a 
conservative change that should improve the program going forward.   
 

.4 Assessment of Safety-Conscious Work Environment  
 

a. Inspection Scope  
 

The team interviewed approximately 56 individuals in nine focus groups.  The purpose of 
these interviews was (1) to evaluate the willingness of licensee staff to raise nuclear 
safety issues, either by initiating a condition report or by another method, (2) to evaluate 
the perceived effectiveness of the corrective action program at resolving identified 
problems, and (3) to evaluate the licensee’s safety-conscious work environment.  The 
focus group participants included personnel from engineering, operations, chemistry, 
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health physics, security, quality assurance, quality control, maintenance, and 
contractors.  The team used licensee organization lists to randomly select individuals 
from these work groups, based partially on availability.  The focus group leader verified 
that none of the individuals had supervisory responsibilities over any other individual in 
the group.  The team interviewed five long-term contractors to determine whether the 
U.S. Department of Labor’s Occupational Safety and Health Administration’s (OSHA) 
July 25, 2013, finding against Enercon Services, Inc., had an effect on their willingness  
to identify and raise safety concerns.  The NRC had sent letters on August 19, 2013, 
(ML13233A208, ML13233A212), requesting that Wolf Creek and Enercon both address 
actions taken or planned to assure that the OSHA finding did not have a chilling effect on 
the work environment. 
 
To supplement these interviews, the team interviewed the Employee Concerns Program 
manager to assess his perception of the site employees’ willingness to raise nuclear 
safety concerns.  The team reviewed the Employee Concerns Program case log and 
select case files.  The team also reviewed the minutes from the licensee’s most recent 
safety culture monitoring panel meetings. 
 

b. Assessment  
  

1. Willingness to Raise Nuclear Safety Issues 
 

Individuals interviewed indicated that they would raise nuclear safety concerns.  All 
felt that their management was receptive to nuclear safety concerns and was willing 
to address them promptly.  All of the interviewees further stated that if they were not 
satisfied with the response from their immediate supervisor, they had the ability to 
escalate the concern to a higher organizational level.  Most expressed positive 
experiences after raising issues to their supervisors.  All expressed positive 
experiences documenting most issues in condition reports.  However, a few 
individuals did not have a positive experience in raising safety concerns but were still 
willing to document the concerns in a condition report.  This is supported by the 
observation there was only 0.41 percent anonymous condition reports written from 
May 26, 2012, to May 29, 2014. 
 

2. Employee Concerns Program 
 

All interviewees were aware of the Employee Concerns Program.  Most explained 
that they had heard about the program through various means, such as posters, 
training, presentations, and discussion by supervisors or management at meetings.  
Most interviewees stated that they would use Employee Concerns if they felt it was 
necessary.  All expressed confidence that their confidentiality would be maintained if 
they brought issues to Employee Concerns.  
 

3. Preventing or Mitigating Perceptions of Retaliation 
 

When asked if there have been any instances where individuals experienced 
retaliation or other negative reaction for raising issues, all individuals interviewed 
stated that they had neither experienced nor heard of an instance of retaliation, 
harassment, intimidation or discrimination at the site.  Additionally, the long-term 
contractors were aware of the OSHA July 25, 2013, finding of discrimination and felt 
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that the actions the licensee had taken had improved the environment for raising 
safety concerns.  The team determined that processes in place to mitigate these 
issues were being successfully implemented. 
 

.5 Findings 
   

a. Failure to Perform Operability Determinations on Degraded Boundaries 
 

Introduction.  The inspectors identified a Green non-cited violation of 10 CFR Part 50, 
Appendix B, Criterion V, “Instructions, Procedures, and Drawings,” for the licensee’s 
failure to perform operability determinations on degraded boundaries with credited 
compensatory measures in accordance with Wolf Creek Procedure AP 26C-004, 
“Operability Determination and Functionality Assessment” Revision 29.  Specifically, the 
licensee was stationing boundary watches to shut blocked open doors credited for 
maintaining operability of safety related components in the event of a HELB in the 
turbine building without reasonable assurance that an operator would be able to close 
these doors during a HELB event. 
 
Description.  During their review of licensee Procedure AP 10-104, “Breach 
Authorization,” Revision 30, inspectors noted that Step 5.6.2 stated, “A boundary watch 
must be able to close the assigned barrier breach in a timely manner upon a high-energy 
line break…”  Inspectors questioned whether the licensee commonly utilized boundary 
watches for HELB barrier breaches.  In order to narrow the focus, inspectors asked for a 
list of times that a breech permit had been issued for the turbine building to auxiliary 
feedwater vestibule door (Door DSK 13291) during power operations in the last two 
years.  This door is the boundary between a HELB event in the turbine building and the 
equipment in rooms 1206 and 1207, including motor operated valves associated with the 
suctions to all three trains of auxiliary feedwater.  According to Procedure AP 10-104 
Attachment A this presents a “Potential HELB Hazard to [the] AUX Bldg if [the] Barrier 
between Aux and Turbine is breached.”  The licensee confirmed that on several 
occasions, a breach permit had been issued with a boundary watch stationed as a 
compensatory measure for DSK 13291 in order to maintain operability of the auxiliary 
feedwater equipment safety trains.  
 
Procedure AP 10-104 Section 6.3.8 Step 4, required that when a HELB barrier is 
breached, to either station a boundary watch or perform an operability determination or 
functionality assessment as required.  Operations staff were led to believe that a 
boundary watch was an adequate measure to ensure operability and the “or” statement 
meant no operability determination was required.  Procedure AP 26C-004 Step 6.11.4.2 
stated that, “the potentially harsh or inhospitable environmental conditions expected” 
shall be evaluated whenever a dedicated individual is used to ensure operability of 
equipment.  Also, Step 6.11.3.5 stated that a dedicated individual may not be used if “the 
conditions or required actions affect both safety trains.”  Because operators bypassed 
this process, these precautions and evaluations were not completed and reasonable 
assurance was not provided to ensure operability of all three safety trains of auxiliary 
feedwater.  The licensee entered this issue into their corrective action program as 
Condition Report CR-84848 and performed a past operability determination. 
 
Analysis.  The failure to perform operability determinations on degraded boundaries is a 
performance deficiency. Wolf Creek Procedure AP 26C-004 step 4.8.1 required an 



 

 
 - 14 -  

immediate operability determination to be completed after confirming that a degraded 
condition exists, however operators were incorrectly crediting a separate procedure for 
ensuring operability.  This performance deficiency is more than minor because it affected 
the configuration control attribute of the Mitigating Systems cornerstone objective to 
ensure the availability, reliability, and capability of systems that respond to initiating 
events to prevent undesirable consequences.  Specifically, the failure to perform 
operability determinations on degraded HELB boundaries failed to ensure that safety 
related equipment could perform their design basis function in the event of a steam line 
break.  Using NRC Inspection Manual 0609, Appendix A, “The Significance 
Determination Process (SDP) for Findings At-Power,” dated June 19, 2012, the finding 
was associated with the Mitigating System Cornerstone and was determined to be of 
very low safety significance (Green) because the finding is a deficiency in the 
qualification of a mitigating system, and a licensee evaluation determined that the 
system maintained its operability.  The finding has a cross-cutting aspect in resources in 
the human performance cross-cutting area because the licensee failed to ensure that 
procedures were adequate to support nuclear safety.  Specifically, Wolf Creek 
Procedure AP 10-104 contained instructions that a boundary watch was an adequate 
compensatory measure for a HELB, despite guidance to the contrary in  
Procedure AP 26C-004 [H.1]. 
 
Enforcement.  Title 10 CFR Part 50, Appendix B, Criterion V, “Instructions, Procedures, 
and Drawings,” requires, in part, that activities affecting quality be prescribed by 
documented instructions, procedures, or drawings, of a type appropriate to the 
circumstances and shall be accomplished in accordance with these instructions, 
procedures, and drawings.  Wolf Creek Procedure AP 26C-004 Step 6.11.4.2 stated “the 
potentially harsh or inhospitable environmental conditions expected” shall be evaluated 
whenever a dedicated individual is used to ensure operability of equipment.  Contrary to 
this requirement, operators failed to perform activities affecting quality in accordance 
with procedures.  Specifically, they did not evaluate the ability of dedicated operators to 
perform credited actions before stationing them as boundary watches for HELB doors.  
This violation was determined to be of very low safety significance (Green) and was 
entered into the licensee’s corrective action program as CR-87666, this violation is being 
treated as a non-cited violation in accordance with section 2.3.2 of the NRC 
Enforcement Policy: NCV 05000482/2014007-01, “Failure to Perform Operability 
Determinations on Degraded Boundaries.” 

 
b. Failure to Prevent Repetition of a Significant Condition Adverse to Quality Related to 

Reactor Coolant System Boundary Leakage 
 

Introduction:  The inspectors reviewed a Green self-revealing violation of 
10 CFR Part 50, Appendix B, Criterion XVI, “Corrective Actions,” for failure to prevent 
repetition of a significant condition adverse to quality related to reactor coolant system 
boundary leakage on April 20, 2014. 
 
Description:  On April 20, 2014, while shut down in Mode 5 for a mid-cycle outage, a 
technician reported leakage from a cracked weld on the upstream side of 
valve EPV0109, the combined safety injection and residual heat removal to 
accumulator D outlet line vent.  This portion of the system is connected to the reactor 
coolant system only when the reactor is shutdown and being cooled using the residual 
heat removal system.  The licensee wrote Work Order 14-386517-001 and made an 
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NRC emergency notification in accordance with 10CFR 50.72(b)(3)(ii)(A).  Quality 
Control personnel inspected the weld and rejected the 2:1 taper measurement because 
it did not meet ASME requirements.  Quality Control’s rejection is captured in CR-83131.  
The valve and cracked weld were removed and replaced.   
 
A subsequent hardware failure analysis determined the cause of the failure to be low 
stress, high cycle fatigue.  The weld at the inlet to valve EPV0109 and similar socket 
welds associated with the reactor coolant system have a history of failure due to this 
mechanism.  During refuel 13 in 2003, valve EPV0109 had an identical failure due to low 
stress, high cycle fatigue.  The valve was cut out and replaced like for like in accordance 
with Work Order 03-257347-000.  In addition to replacing the valve the vent piping was 
shortened by 1.5” to reduce bending moments at the weld.  The 2003 root cause 
analysis recommended an increase of the socket weld to a 2:1 taper or add a pipe 
support at the top of the vent line.  The licensee chose to increase the socket weld and 
completed the 2:1 taper during refuel 15 in October 2006; at this time a support was not 
added.  On February 4, 2013 the licensee discovered a leak from a socket weld 
connection upstream of valve BBV0130, “RCP A Seal Water Injection Line Drain Valve.”  
The extent of condition called for a dye penetrate test on the weld at the inlet to valve 
EPV0109.  The results of the test found no indications.  The corrective action for valve 
BBV0130 was to replace the valve with a similar socket weld.  Based on this subsequent 
failure, discovered in April 2014, the licensee was developing a plan to install a pipe 
support for valve EPV0109. 

 
Analysis:  The failure to prevent the reoccurrence of a significant condition adverse to 
quality was a performance deficiency.  Specifically, a weld for vent valve EPV0109 failed 
in 2003 and again in 2014, both times due to the same root cause; cyclic stress fatigue.  
This performance deficiency was more than minor because it affected the reactor 
coolant system equipment and barrier performance attribute of the Barrier Integrity 
cornerstone objective.  Specifically the failure to prevent the reoccurrence of high cycle 
fatigue induced socket weld cracking resulted in reactor coolant system barrier leakage.  
The inspectors assessed the significance of the issue using IMC 0609, Appendix G, 
Attachment 1, “Shutdown Operations Significance Determination Process Phase 1 Initial 
Screening and Characterization of Findings,” dated May 9, 2014.  The finding was of 
very low safety significance (Green) because the finding did not cause a low 
temperature over pressurization, did not increase the potential for a freeze seal failure, 
did not involve steam generator nozzles dams, did not cause a boron dilution event, or 
degrade the ability to isolate a leak path.  Because the performance deficiency occurred 
in 2003, this finding is not indicative of current plant performance and does not have a 
cross-cutting aspect. 

 
Enforcement:  Title 10 CFR Part 50, Appendix B, Criterion XVI, “Corrective Actions,” 
states, in part, that, “ In the case of significant conditions adverse to quality…measures 
shall assure that the cause of the condition is determined and corrective action taken to 
preclude repetition.”  Contrary to this, the licensee failed to preclude repetition of reactor 
coolant system boundary leakage (a significant condition adverse to quality) due to high 
cycle fatigue induced socket weld cracking on valve EPV0109, initially discovered in 
2003 and subsequent failure identified in April 2014.  Because this was of very low 
safety significance and was entered into the licensee's corrective action program as 
CR-87667, this violation is being treated as a non-cited violation, consistent with 
Section 2.3.2 of the NRC Enforcement Policy: NCV 05000482/2014007-02, “Failure to 
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preclude repetition of a significant condition adverse to quality to prevent reactor coolant 
system leak.” 

 
c. Failure to Include the Containment Coolers in a Test Program 

 
Introduction:  The inspectors identified a violation of 10 CFR Part 50, Appendix B, 
Criterion XI, “Test Control,” for the licensee’s failure to include the containment coolers in 
the heat exchanger inspection program that would demonstrate their leak tight integrity 
and capability to perform their safety function.  Specifically, the licensee did not 
implement any means to assess the amount of corrosion in the tubing to support 
continued assurance of operability.  Containment cooler operability was the subject of 
NRC inspectors’ questions earlier this year (2014) due to the lack of inspection and 
testing of the containment coolers.  

 
Description:  As part of the cited violation in the 2012 problem identification and 
resolution inspection report (VIO 05000482/2012007-03), the inspectors identified that 
the containment coolers had not been included in the scope of the corrective actions 
addressing essential service water piping corrosion.  Further, containment coolers had 
never been included in the non-destructive inspection program to assure the integrity 
and capability of the system.   
 
The goals of the ongoing essential service water system corrective actions were to 
preclude pressure induced water hammer effects and correct the system leakage.  To 
determine the extent of leaks in the containment cooler tubes, some assessment of the 
amount of internal corrosion present was necessary, along with a determination of the 
estimated corrosion rate.  This would have allowed an informed decision on the 
timeframe for repairs or replacements, and would have provided a basis for continued 
operability. 
 
Based on documentation review and interviews conducted to date, there was no 
evidence showing that inspections or testing to ensure containment cooler operability 
(tube integrity) was initiated by the licensee. 
 

• The response letter to the 2012 problem identification and resolution inspection 
cited violation (WM 12-0023, dated August 2, 2012), did not contain any explicit 
actions to prevent leaks in the containment coolers.  Response to Violation 1 
stated that “Inspections of ESW piping have been performed, repairs have been 
made as needed and the inspection program continues to monitor for 
nonconformances.”  Based on the fact that no inspections were being performed 
on the containment cooler tubes, there appears to be no corrective action that 
addressed this. 
 

• The condition report for the 2012 cited violation, CR-53443, and its cause 
evaluation, did not identify corrective actions to assess and track the integrity of 
the containment cooler tubes. 
 

• Follow on discussions from the 2012 problem identification and resolution 
inspection revealed that there was a known history of tube failures.  This resulted 
in questioning how often the tubes failed over time.  Licensee staff assembled a 
list of the tube failures over the years.  From November 1996 to April 2014, there 
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were ten instances of tube failures due to under-deposit corrosion.  The shortest 
length of time between tube bundle installation and tube failure was three and a 
half years (containment cooler SGN01C, October 1996).  The licensee did not 
perform any inspection or testing to ascertain the integrity of the cooler tubes as 
a result of this data. 
 

• Leaks typically revealed themselves during integrated engineering safety 
features actuation system testing, which the licensee conducts during outages.  
The containment cooler leaks that revealed themselves during the mid-cycle 
outage 20 (2014) brought up questions of their operability.  During NRC review of 
the containment cooler operability determination (document OE GN-14-007, 
Revision 0), NRC inspectors questioned whether the claims of operability could 
be made without an internal inspection or test to provide reasonable assurance.  
Based on this questioning, the licensee conducted a hydrostatic pressure test to 
provide the assurance of tube integrity for a limited period of time.  The testing 
results were documented in the same operability evaluation. 

 
Currently the only action to ascertain the state of corrosion in the containment coolers 
was the 2014 hydrostatic pressure test conducted as a result of NRC questioning. 
 
The current design of the containment coolers precludes non-destructive internal 
inspection.  In 2007, licensee staff developed a proposal to change the design of the 
containment coolers to allow for internal periodic inspections.  However, licensee 
management decided not to pursue implementation of this design change. 
 
With the current design, the only option available to ascertain tube integrity was to 
hydrostatically pressure test the containment coolers tubes, repair any leaks and make 
an assessment of operability based on known corrosion rates.  From the 2012 problem 
identification and resolution inspection until the 2014 mid-cycle outage, there were six 
outage opportunities when the licensee could have developed and implemented such a 
testing regimen.  However, no effort occurred until prompted by NRC inspectors this 
year.  The corrective actions to address this issue are documented in CR-84972. 
 
Analysis:  The failure to include the containment coolers in the heat exchanger 
inspection program to demonstrate their leak tight integrity and capability to perform their 
safety function was a performance deficiency.  The deficiency was more than minor 
because it was associated with the equipment performance attribute of the Mitigating 
Systems cornerstone and it could adversely affect the objective to ensure the availability, 
reliability, and capability of systems that respond to initiating events to prevent 
undesirable consequences.  Therefore, the performance deficiency was a finding.  The 
inspectors performed the significance determination process using NRC Inspection 
Manual Chapter 0609, Attachment 4, “Initial Characterization of Findings,” dated 
June 19, 2012, and Appendix A, “The Significance Determination Process (SDP) For 
Findings At-Power,” dated June 19, 2012.  Using Appendix A, Exhibit 2, the inspectors 
determined that the finding was of very low safety significance (Green) because the 
finding was a design or qualification deficiency that was confirmed not to result in loss of 
system operability or functionality.  The leaks were isolated or repaired such that the 
coolers were restored to operable status prior to exiting outages.   
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The inspectors determined that the finding also had a potential to bypass the 
containment barrier; if containment pressure, in a loss of coolant accident, was greater 
than essential service water pressure in a containment cooler tube with a pinhole leak.  
This would then allow the bypassing of the containment barrier.  Therefore, the 
inspectors evaluated the finding using NRC Inspection Manual Chapter 0609 
Appendix H, “Containment Integrity Significance Determination Process,” dated  
May 6, 2004.  It was determined that this is a Type B finding since there is no impact on 
delta core damage frequency.  During Phase 1 screening the finding does not screen out 
because a pinhole leak can be considered a breach of a containment penetration.  A 
Phase 2 assessment was performed assuming greater than a 30-day exposure.  
Essential service water (cooling water running through the containment cooler tubes) 
pressure was determined to be greater than the maximum containment pressure during 
a design basis accident.  This would cause no leakage from containment to 
environment.  Additionally, analysis shows any leakage would be less than 100 percent 
containment volume/day through a pinhole leak.  Therefore, this resulted in a Green 
finding. 

 
This finding has a cross-cutting aspect in identification in the problem identification and 
resolution cross-cutting area, associated with identifying issues completely in 
accordance with the program.  Licensee staff failed to identify that the lack of non-
destructive inspection for the containment coolers was an item that required corrective 
action implementation [P.1]. 
 
Enforcement:  Title 10 CFR Part 50, Appendix B, Criterion XI, “Test Control,” requires, in 
part, that a “test program shall be established to assure that all testing required to 
demonstrate that structures, systems, and components will perform satisfactorily in 
service is identified and performed….”  Contrary to this requirement, from initial reactor 
operations, through June 6, 2014, the licensee failed to include the containment coolers 
in the heat exchanger inspection program that would demonstrate their satisfactory 
performance.  Additionally, the licensee did not implement any means to assess the 
amount of corrosion in the tubing to support continued assurance of operability.  The 
finding has been entered into the licensee’s corrective action program as CR-87668.  
This violation is being treated as a non-cited violation, consistent with Section 2.3.2 of 
the NRC Enforcement Policy: NCV 05000482/2014007-03, “Failure to Include the 
Containment Coolers in a Test Program.” 
 

d. Failure to Incorporate Licensee Event Reports as External Operating Experience into the 
Corrective Action Program 

 
Introduction:  The inspectors identified a Green finding for the licensee’s failure to follow 
the Operating Experience Program’s requirement to review external licensee event 
reports and initiate a condition report for those potentially applicable to Wolf Creek. 

 
Description:  The purpose of the licensee’s Operating Experience Program is to ensure 
that lessons learned from industry operating experience documents and information are 
used to improve safety and prevent or mitigate the consequences of similar events.  
Some sources of external operating experience include documents and information 
provided by third parties, (e.g. NRC, Nuclear Energy Institute, vendors, and other 
utilities).  Procedure AP-20E-001, “Industry Operating Experience Program,” 
Revision 25, Step 6.1.2, directed the licensee to review other utilities’ licensee event 
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reports for potential applicability to the Wolf Creek Nuclear Generating Station.  
Step 6.1.3 then directed the licensee to initiate a condition report if potential applicability 
to Wolf Creek is identified so possible unacceptable conditions are captured in the 
licensee’s corrective action program. 

 
On July 26, 2013, the Callaway Plant experienced electrical faults that caused damage 
to the isophase bus to the unit auxiliary transformer and main generator neutral 
connection box.  A generator trip was initiated to isolate the faulted area that resulted in 
a reactor trip from 100 percent power.  A small fire started from the main generator 
neutral connection box and Callaway Plant declared an Unusual Event.  Callaway Plant 
issued Licensee Event Report 2013-008-00 detailing this event on September 24, 2013.  
Callaway Plant and Wolf Creek are Westinghouse’s Standardized Nuclear Unit Power 
Plant System 4-loop pressurized water reactor design.  They have similar plant designs, 
layouts, and components.  Therefore, License Event Report 2013-008-00 was potentially 
applicable to Wolf Creek; however, the licensee did not review this licensee event report 
or initiate a condition report.  

 
In February 2014, a third-party submitted a report documenting the reactor trip from the 
Callaway License Event Report 2013-008-00.  The licensee initiated CR-81743 to 
capture the lessons learned from the third-party report.  The unacceptable condition was 
then determined not applicable to Wolf Creek.  However, failure to follow 
Procedure AP-20E-001 and initiate a condition report after reviewing Licensee Event 
Report 2013-008-00 left a period of five months when the licensee had a potentially 
unacceptable condition.  

 
Discussions with the staff during this inspection indicated the Operating Experience 
Program had stopped writing condition reports after reviewing external licensee event 
reports in accordance with Procedure AP-20E-001 and had started depending upon a 
third-party report.  It was then determined that the third-party does not include event 
reports for every nuclear power plant licensee event report.  The licensee conducted a 
quick extent of condition and identified at least six recent licensee event reports from 
Callaway including License Event Report 2013-008-00.  Of the six licensee event 
reports, two had not been identified by the operating experience program, two had been 
addressed by the program, but no condition report had been documented, and two are 
still being reviewed. 

 
Analysis:  The failure to follow the Operating Experience Program’s procedure was a 
performance deficiency.  This performance deficiency was more than minor because if 
left uncorrected, it would have the potential to lead to a more significant safety concern.  
Specifically, the Operating Experience Program’s failure to initiate condition reports 
when identifying an external licensee event report applicable to Wolf Creek per 
Procedure AP-20E-001 was a programmatic deficiency which could cause unacceptable 
conditions to go undetected.  In accordance with Inspection Manual Chapter 0609, 
Attachment 4, “Initial Characterization of Findings,” dated June 19, 2012, and Inspection 
Manual Chapter 0609 Appendix A, “The Significance Determination Process (SDP) for 
Findings At-Power,” dated June 19, 2012, the team determined the find was most 
appropriately associated with the Mitigating Systems cornerstone and was of very low 
safety significance (Green) because the finding does not represent an actual loss of 
function.  This finding has a cross-cutting aspect of avoid complacency because the 
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licensee did not use error reduction tools to confirm the third-party report documented all 
external licensee event reports [H.12].  

 
Enforcement:  This finding does not involve enforcement action because no violation of a 
regulatory requirement was identified.  The finding has been entered into the licensee’s 
corrective action program as CR-87670.  Because this finding does not involve a 
violation and is of very low safety significance, it is identified as a finding:  
FIN 05000482/2014007-04, “Failure to Incorporate LERs in OE Program.” 

 
4OA6 Meetings, Including Exit 
 
Exit Meeting Summary 
 
On August 28, 2014, the inspectors presented the inspection results to Mr. C. Reasoner, and 
other members of the licensee staff. The licensee acknowledged the issues presented. The 
licensee confirmed that any proprietary information reviewed by the inspectors had been 
returned or destroyed. 
 
On October 9, 2014, the inspectors presented the inspection results to M. S. Koenig, and other 
members of the licensee staff.  The re-exit was to present a change in the characterization of a 
cross-cutting aspect documented in this report.  The licensee acknowledged the issue 
presented. 
 
4OA7 Licensee-Identified Violations 
 

• None. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 

1. Supplemental Information 
2. Information Request



 

  Attachment 1 

SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION 
 

KEY POINTS OF CONTACT  
 
Licensee Personnel    
 
A. Heflin, President and CEO 
C. Reasoner, Site Vice President  
A. Stull, Vice President and Chief Admin Officer 
D. Hendell, General Counsel 
R. Flannigan, Engineering Manger Nuclear 
T. Manager, Engineering Manager Systems 
P. Herrman, Engineering Manager Programs 
S. Smith, Plant Manager 
J. Edwards, Manager Operations 
L. Ratzlaff, Manager Maintenance 
M. Skiles, Manager Health Physics 
M. Westman, Regulatory Affairs Manager 
W. Muilenburg, Supervisor Licensing 
J. Yunk, Manager Corrective Action 
L. Sawyer, Supervisor Corrective Action 
R. Thompson, Supervisor Operating Experience 
D. Erbe, Manager Security 
C. Carman, Manager Chemistry 
M. Boyer, Projects 
J. Suter, Fire Protection 
T. Smith, Projects 
S. Henry, Engineer 
J. Birk, Maintenance 
S. Koenig, Regulatory Affairs Manager  
L. Rockers, Licensing Engineer 
T. Young, Director Communications 
B. Brooks, Operating Experience Program Manager 
T. Baban, Engineering Manager Systems 
J. Isch, Supervisor Operations 
R. Lane, Supervisor Operations 
J. Lenard, Corrective Actions 
J. Knust, Licensing 
R. Hobby, Licensing 
 
NRC Personnel 
 
G. Miller, Chief, Technical Support Branch 
N. O’Keefe, Chief, Projects Branch B 
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LIST OF ITEMS OPENED, CLOSED, AND DISCUSSED  
 

Opened and Closed 

05000482/2014007-01 NCV 
“Failure to Perform Operability Determinations on Degraded 
Boundaries.” (Section 4OA2.5.a) 

05000482/2014007-02 NCV 
“Failure to Preclude Repetition of a Significant Condition 
Adverse to Quality to Prevent Reactor Coolant System Leak.” 
(Section 4OA2.5.b) 

05000482/2014007-03 NCV 
“Failure to Include the Containment Coolers in a Test Program.” 
(Section 4OA2.5.c) 

05000482/2014007-04 FIN 
“Failure to Incorporate LERs in OE Program.” 
(Section 4OA2.5.d) 

 

Discussed 

05000482/2009007-03 NCV 
Failure to Correctly Screen Essential Service Water Piping 
Leaks for Significance (Section 4OA2.1(b)(3)) 

05000482/2010006-05 VIO 
Failure to Perform Adequate Evaluation for Significant 
Conditions (Section 4OA2.1(b)(3)) 

05000482/2012007-03 VIO 
Failure to Take Timely corrective Action to Preclude Repetition 
(Section 4OA2.1(b)(3)) 

 
 

LIST OF DOCUMENTS REVIEWED 
 

Procedures 

Number Title Revision 
Date 

SYS EG-130 Radwaste Component Cooling Water System Operations 8 

AP 10-104 Breach Authorization 30 

SYS GK-200 Non-Functional Class 1E A/C Unit 29 

WCQPM Wolf Creek Quality Program Manual 9 

AI 16F-002 Boric Acid Leakage Management 8 

AI 16F-001 Evaluation of Boric Acid Leakage 8 

AP 20A-006 QA Issue Development, Reporting and Follow-up Processes 16 

AP 16F-001 Boric Acid Corrosion Control Program 7 

AP 26C-004 Operability Determination and Functionality Assessment 29 

AP 28-001 Operability Evaluations 23 

AI 28A-010 Screening Condition Reports 18 

AI 28A-018 Corrective Action Review Board 0 
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Procedures 

Number Title Revision 
Date 

AP-20E-001 Industry Operating Experience Program 23 

AP-20E-001 Industry Operating Experience Program 25 

AI-20E-002 INPO Consolidated Event System (ICES) 0A 

I-ENG-004 Lubricating Oil Analysis 3 

I-ENG-004 Lubricating Oil Analysis 4 

I-ENG-004 Lubricating Oil Analysis 7 

AP-28A-100 Condition Reports 21 

AP 23L-001 Lake Water Systems Corrosion and Fouling Mitigation 
Program 

6 

AI 23L-005 Lake Water Piping Integrity 4 

AI 28A-007 Level 2 CR Evaluation 5 

AP 23L-002 Heat Exchanger Program 3A 

QCP-20-518 Visual Examination of Heat Exchangers and Piping 
Components 

7 

ALR 00-018A NB01 Bus Lockout 19 

ALR 00-021A NB02 Bus Lockout 21 

ALR 00-055A ESW PMP A PRESS LO 11A 

BD-EMG E-1 Loss of Reactor or Secondary Coolant 13 

AI 050923 Conduct of Engineering 0 

AI 37-001 Project Management Process 0 

AP 05B-001 Engineering Stakeholder Participation 0 

EMG E-1 Loss of Reactor or Secondary Coolant 23 

AP 23O-001 Plant Health Committee 9 

ALR 00-055C ESW PMP TROUBLE 10 

 

Drawings 

Number Title Revision 
Date 

10466-A-1302 Auxiliary and Reactor Building Floor Plan, Elevation 2000’-
0” 

9 

M-13EF01 Piping Isometric Essential Service Water System Control 
Building “A” & “B” Train 

30 
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Drawings 

Number Title Revision 
Date 

WIP-M-13EF01-
028-C-1 

Piping Isometric Essential Service Water System Control 
Building “A” & “B” Train 

2 

Drawing No. M-
KH0101 

Heating Ventilating & Air Cond., Essential Service Water 
Pumphouse 

4 

Drawing No. M-
1H5211 

Heating, Ventilating & Air Cond Diesel Generator Bldg., Plan 
and Sections 

0 

 

Condition Reports  

CR-65212 CR-64213 CR-62946 CR-37825 CR-60298 

CR-73227 CR-53672 CR-55994 CR-56014 CR-57526 

CR-53710 CR-55265 CR-27276 CR-28252 CR-31452 

CR-33925 PIR 6555 PIR 5256 PIR 6555 PIR 2406 

CR-26316 CR-33925 CR-43979 CR-50378 CR-27904 

CR-78247 CR-79271 CR-79997 CR-81665 CR-81743 

CR-78538 CR-79271 CR-84848 CR-84526 CR-84874 

CR-78664 CR-84159 CR-75310 CR-78666 CR-79089 

CR-70249 CR-70240 CR-83074 PIR 3486 CR-48412 

CR-60942 CR-70610 CR-84157 CR-75317 CR-83681 

CR-84316 CR-81743 CR-74677 CR-50933 CR-84427 

CR-54086 CR-43710 CR-23008 CR-31896 CR-15497 

CR-84968 CR-84922 CR-84869 CR-84870 CR-84871 

CR-84878 CR-84883 CR-84884 CR-84892 CR-84825 

CR-69753 CR-66661 CR-62922 CR-74372 CR-80031 

CR-59291 CR-70269 CR-77123 CR-61565 CR-58238 

CR-66338 CR-64177 CR-73267 CR-65385 CR-71744 

CR-69460 CR-80307 CR-75248 CR-74322 CR-73546 

CR-55453 CR-64667 CR-71371 CR-54212 CR-53573 

CR-80383 CR-75550 CR-51622 CR-61559 CR-62946 

CR-84873 CR-65624 CR-50993 CR-81686 CR-78811 

CR-65715 CR-67393 CR-81280 CR-78920 CR-84972 

CR-2008-005073 CR-25918 CR-28077 CR-28474 CR-29528 
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Condition Reports  

CR-33925 CR-48104 CR-51154 CR-53443 CR-53455 

CR-55336 CR-55785 CR-73410 CR-83317 CR-83318 

CR-83319 CR-83321 CR-83810 CR-84905 CR-84973 

CR-79619 CR-53443 CR-53455 CR-55336 PIR 96-0938 

PIR 96-2656 PIR 2005-2743    

 

Work Orders 

13-373086 13-373108 12-355727-000 12-354866-000 12-355726-000 

12-354867-000 12-356404-113 14-385117-000 14-106970 EER 92-EF-01 

14-388251-00 09-322054-006    

 

Miscellaneous 

Number Title Revision/Date 

 Wolf Creek Turbine Building HELB Impact on Auxiliary 
Feedwater Equipment in Rooms 1206 and 1207 Concurrent 
with Door Breach  

June 23, 2014 

 Room 1206 and 1207 Equipment Evaluations (Excel 
Spreadsheet)  

June 23, 2014 

 Answer to open question #2 June 23, 2014 

 Door 13291 Breach Record June 4, 2014 

APF 10-104-06 Boundary Watch Duties 11 

 Wolf Creek Control Room Logs January 20, 
2014 

GK-06-W SGK05A/B Class 1E Electrical Equipment Rooms A/C Units, 
Single Unit Operation Capability 

5 

TMO 10-017-EG-
03 

Install a temporary method of providing cooling to the loads 
served by the CCW system in the Radwaste Building 

3 

 Corrective Action Review Board Agenda May 21, 2014 

FL-05 Control Building Flooding 1 

13-02-ENG Quality Assurance Audit Report (Engineering) August 8, 2013 

14-02-CAP Quality Assurance Audit Report: Corrective 
Action/Performance Improvement 

April 22, 2014 

13-04-EP Quality Assurance Audit Report (Emergency Preparedness) June 6, 2013 

13-05-QA Quality Assurance Audit Report: Quality Assurance Program August 22, 2013
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Miscellaneous 

Number Title Revision/Date 

QS-2012-0222 QA Assessment for the Process for Sharing Wolf Creek 
Operating Experience with the Industry 

September 10, 
2012 

05000483 
LER 2013-008-
00 

Arcing in Isophase Bus Results in a Generator Trip, Turbine 
Trip, Reactor Trip, and Small Fire 

September 24, 
2013 

05000482 
LER 2012-003-
00 

B Train ECCS and Containment Spray System Inoperable 
Due to Damaged Watertight Containment Spray Pump Door 
Seal 

June 18, 2012 

05000482 
LER 2013-001-
00 

Broken Cylinder Head Stud Causes Inoperable Diesel 
Generator Longer than Technical Specification Completion 
Time 

March 11, 2013 

05000482 
LER 2013-002-
00 

Pressure Boundary Leakage on a Seal Water Injection 
Drain Line due to Low Stress High Cycle Fatigue 

April 2, 2013 

05000482 
LER 2013-005-
00 

Fatigue Failure of Jacket Water Pressure Switch Diaphragm 
Results in Loss of the ‘B’ Diesel Generator 

May 13, 2013 

05000482 
LER 2014-001-
00 

Failure to Comply with Required Action of Technical 
Specification 3.4.3 while Performing a Vacuum Fill of the 
Reactor Coolant System 

March 6, 2014 

QA Audit 12-04-
12 

Quality Assurance Audit Report Corrective Action Program April 26, 2012 

QA Audit 14-02-
CAP 

Quality Assurance Audit Report Corrective 
Action/Performance Improvement 

April 22, 2014 

OE 2013-2188 Turbine Trip, Fire and Unusual Event Due to Loss of 
Isophase Backdraft Damper 

October 30, 
2013 

OE 2013-1585 Motor Operated Valve Actuator Shaft Found Decoupled 
from Essential Service Water Cross Connect Valve Stem 

July 23, 2013 

SA-2012-0024 Operating Experience Program Self-Assessment March 29, 2012 

WM 12-0023 Letter from Matthew W. Sunseri, President and Chief 
Executive Officer, Wolf Creek Nuclear Operating 
Corporation, to the U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission, 
“Docket No. 50-482: Reply to Notice of Violation EA-12-135” 

August 2, 2012 

WO 12-0071 Letter from Russell A. Smith, Site Vice-President and Chief 
Nuclear Operating Officer, Wolf Creek Nuclear Operating 
Corporation, to the U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission, 
“Docket No. 50-482: Revision to a Commitment Made in 
Reply to Notice of Violation EA 12-135” 

December 13, 
2012 
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Miscellaneous 

Number Title Revision/Date 

WO 14-0037 Letter from Russell A. Smith, Site Vice-President and Chief 
Nuclear Operating Officer, Wolf Creek Nuclear Operating 
Corporation, to the U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission, 
“Docket No. 50-482: Closure of Essential Service Water 
System Corrosion Monitoring Commitment” 

April1, 2014 

WM 14-0011 Letter from Adam C. Heflin, President, Chief Executive 
Officer and Chief Nuclear Officer, Wolf Creek Nuclear 
Operating Corporation, to the U.S. Nuclear Regulatory 
Commission, “Docket No. 50-482: Changes to Essential 
Service Water System Water Hammer Mitigation 
Commitment” 

May 8, 2014 

WM 14-0013 Letter from Adam C. Heflin, President, Chief Executive 
Officer and Chief Nuclear Officer, Wolf Creek Nuclear 
Operating Corporation, to the U.S. Nuclear Regulatory 
Commission, “Docket No. 50-482: Voluntary Commitment 
Regarding Containment Coolers at Wolf Creek Generating 
Station” 

May 8, 2014 

OE GN-14-007 SGN01A, SGN01B, SGN01C, and SGN01D Containment 
Coolers 

0 

 Project Charter Essential Service Water System Hammer 
Effects Mitigation 13424 

0 

ET 90-0023 Letter from Mr. Forest T. Rhodes, Vice President, 
Engineering and Technical Services, Wolf Creek Nuclear 
Operating Corporation, to Mr. R. D. Martin, US Nuclear 
Regulatory Commission, “Docket No. 50-482, Response to 
Generic Letter 89-13, ‘Service Water System Problems 
Affecting Safety-Related Equipment.’” 

January 30, 
1990 

ET 94-0012 Letter from Mr. Forest T. Rhodes, Vice President, 
Engineering, Wolf Creek Nuclear Operating Corporation, to 
the US Nuclear Regulatory Commission, “Docket No. 50-
482: Updated Response to Generic Letter 89-13.” 

February 18, 
1994 

ET 94-0075 Letter from Mr. Forest T. Rhodes, Vice President, 
Engineering, Wolf Creek Nuclear Operating Corporation, to 
US Nuclear Regulatory Commission, “Docket No. 50-482: 
Final Response to Generic Letter 89-13.’” 

November 28, 
1994 

ET 99-0042 Letter from Mr. Richard A. Muench, Vice President 
Engineering, Wolf Creek Nuclear Operating Corporation, to 
US Nuclear Regulatory Commission, “Docket No. 50-482: 
Updated Response to Generic Letter 89-13.” 

November 19, 
1999 

Assessment 
Number: 76 

Lake Water Corrosion, Fouling and Chemistry April 27, 2007 
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Miscellaneous 

Number Title Revision/Date 

OE GM-12-013 GMD0004/Diesel Generator Tornado Exhaust Damper ‘A’ 0 

 Engineering Disposition – Containment Cooler Tube Pitting 01 

Change Package 
#: 13540 

Install New CCW/RW Flow Restriction Device 6 

Change Package 
#: 14106 

Install Nuclear Grade Air Trap Above CCW Vent EJV0163 1 

Reportability 
Evaluation 
Request # 2012-
080 

GMD0004, ‘A’ Diesel Generator Tornado Exhaust Damper 
Failed the Initial Breakaway Torque Test 

September 5, 
2012 

 Engineering Disposition – GMD0004 Tornado Damper Test 
Failure 

0 

 Engineering Disposition – Lake Water Systems Pitting 
Corrosion Rates 

September 29, 
2010 

PS1231231 Lesson Plan – SOER 10-2 Engaged, Thinking 
Organizations 

004 

Required 
Reading # 
OP140000047 

Essential Reading 14-0039  

ES1351807 Configuration Management Continuing Training (DIF) 000 

 
 

ENGINEERING CALCULATIONS 

Number Title Revision/Date

CP 013424 ESW Water Hammer Resolution 1 

 



 

  Attachment 2 

Information Request 
March 14, 2014 

Biennial Problem Identification and Resolution Inspection – 
Wolf Creek Generating Station 

Inspection Report Number 05000482/2014007 
 

This inspection will cover the period from May 26, 2012, through the end of the inspection on June 
6, 2014. All requested information should be limited to this period or to the date of the request 
unless otherwise specified. To the extent possible, provide the requested information electronically 
in Adobe PDF (preferred) or Microsoft Office format. Provide paper copies of any sensitive 
information during the team’s first week on site; do not provide sensitive or proprietary information 
electronically. 
 
Lists of documents (summary lists) should be provided in Microsoft Excel or a similar sortable 
format. Please provide the information on a compact disc (one for each team member), if possible. 
This information may also be uploaded on the Certrec IMS website if so desired. 
 
Please provide the following no later than April 18, 2014: 

 
1. Document Lists 

Note:  For these summary lists, please include the document/reference number, the 
document title or description of the issue, the priority, initiation date, current status, and 
long text descriptions of the issues. 
 
a. Summary list of all corrective action documents related to significant conditions 

adverse to quality that were opened, closed, or evaluated during the period 
b. Summary list of all corrective action documents related to conditions adverse to 

quality that were opened or closed during the period 
c. Summary lists of all corrective action documents which were upgraded or 

downgraded in priority/significance during the period 
d. Summary list of all corrective action documents that subsume or “roll up” one or 

more smaller issues for the period 
e. Summary lists of operator workarounds, engineering review requests and/or 

operability evaluations, temporary modifications, and control room and safety system 
deficiencies opened, closed, or evaluated during the period 

f. Summary list of plant safety issues raised or addressed by the Employee Concerns 
Program (or equivalent) 

g. Summary list of all Apparent Cause Evaluations completed during the period 
h. Summary list of all Root Cause Evaluations planned or in progress but not complete 

at the end of the period 
 

2. Full Documents with Attachments 
 

a. Root Cause Evaluations completed during the period 
b. Quality assurance audits performed during the period 
c. All audits/surveillances performed during the period of the Corrective Action 

Program, of individual corrective actions, and of cause evaluations 
d. Corrective action activity reports, functional area self-assessments, and non-NRC 

third party assessments completed during the period (do not include INPO 
assessments) 
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e. Corrective action documents generated during the period for the following: 
i. All Cited and Non-Cited Violations issued to Wolf Creek Generating Station 
ii. All Licensee Event Reports issued by Wolf Creek Generating Station 

 
f. Corrective action documents generated for the following, if they were determined to 

be applicable to Wolf Creek Generating Station (for those that were evaluated but 
determined not to be applicable, provide a summary list): 
i. NRC Information Notices, Bulletins, and Generic Letters issued or evaluated 

during the period 
ii. Part 21 reports issued or evaluated during the period 
iii. Vendor safety information letters (or equivalent) issued or evaluated during the 

period 
iv. Other external events and/or Operating Experience evaluated for applicability 

during the period 
 
g. Corrective action documents generated for the following: 

i. Emergency planning drills and tabletop exercises performed during the period 
ii. Maintenance preventable functional failures which occurred or were evaluated 

during the period 
iii. Adverse trends in equipment, processes, procedures, or programs which were 

evaluated during the period 
iv. Action items generated or addressed by plant safety review committees during 

the period 
 

3. Logs and Reports 
 

a. Corrective action performance trending/tracking information generated during the 
period and broken down by functional organization 

b. Corrective action effectiveness review reports generated during the period 
c. Current system health reports or similar information 
d. Radiation protection event logs during the period 
e. Security event logs and security incidents during the period (sensitive information 

can be provided by hard copy during first week on site) 
f. Employee Concern Program (or equivalent) logs (sensitive information can be 

provided by hard copy during first week on site) 
g. List of Training deficiencies, requests for training improvements, and simulator 

deficiencies for the period 
 

4. Procedures 
 
a. Corrective action program procedures (initiation, evaluation, classification, and 

disposition of conditions adverse to quality. Include operability determination procedures, 
root and apparent cause evaluation procedures and any other procedures that 
implement the corrective action program; 

b. Maintenance rule program and implementing procedures; 
c. Operating experience program; 
d. Employee concerns program;  
e. Self-assessment program;  
f. Degraded/non-conforming condition process (e.g., RIS 2005-20);  
g. System Health process or equivalent equipment reliability improvement programs;  
h. Operational Decision Making (ODMI) process. 
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5. Other Items 
 
a. Scheduled date/time/location of all meetings associated with implementation of the 

corrective action program, such as screening meetings, corrective action review board 
meetings, etc. 

 
b. A list of condition reports generated as a result of identified trends. The list should be 

sorted by priority and have the following information: number, title/description, date 
initiated, status and initiating department. 

 
c. A list of outstanding corrective actions, sorted by priority, with the following information: 

number; priority; system/component affected, initiating date and due date. Please also 
identify and list any associated due date extensions. 

 
d. A chronological list of all nuclear Quality Assurance/Nuclear Oversight audits and 

department/station self-assessments including their reference number. 
 
e. A list of all system health reports. 
 
f. All copy of assessments or evaluations (internal or external) regarding station or 

department safety-culture. 
 
g. A list of all operability determinations and ODMIs performed with the following 

information: date initiated, initiating CR and status (open or closed). 
 
h. A list of maintenance preventable functional failures (MPFFs) of risk-significant systems 

(include actions completed and current status). A list of current Maintenance Rule a(1) 
systems and a list of those systems that entered a(1) within the last two years, but which 
were returned to a(2) status. Include a copy of the current system health report for those 
systems now in a(1). 

 
i. Copy of the latest corrective action program statistics such as the number initiated by 

department, human performance errors by department, backlog, corrective action 
timeliness and others as may be available. 

 
j. List of industry operating experience evaluated by the site and associated condition 

report number if applicable. Additionally, list of all NRC generic communications 
(information notices, generic letters, etc.) evaluated by the site for applicability to the 
station regardless of the determination of applicability. 

k. A chronological list of all Licensee Event Reports, with a brief description of the affected 
components or systems. 

l. A listing of the top 10 risk-significant systems, components, and/or operator manual 
actions as appropriate.  

 
Please provided on CDs and/or DVDs sent via overnight carrier to: 
 
U.S. NRC Region IV 
1600 E. Lamar Blvd. 
Arlington, TX 76011-4511 
Attention: Harry Freeman 
 



A. Heflin -2- 
 

 

Finally, the team determined that your station’s management maintains a safety-conscious work environment in 
which your employees are willing to raise nuclear safety concerns through at least one of the several means 
available. 
 
NRC inspectors documented four findings of very low safety significance (Green) in this report. Three of these 
findings involved violations of NRC requirements.  The NRC is treating these violations as non-cited violations 
(NCVs) consistent with Section 2.3.2.a of the NRC Enforcement Policy. 
 
If you contest the violations or significance of these NCVs, you should provide a response within 30 days of the date 
of this inspection report, with the basis for your denial, to the U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission, ATTN:  
Document Control Desk, Washington, DC 20555-0001; with copies to the Regional Administrator, Region IV; the 
Director, Office of Enforcement, U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission, Washington, DC 20555-0001; and the NRC 
resident inspector at the Wolf Creek Generating Station. 
 
If you disagree with a cross-cutting aspect assignment or a finding not associated with a regulatory requirement in 
this report, you should provide a response within 30 days of the date of this inspection report, with the basis for your 
disagreement, to the Regional Administrator, Region IV; and the NRC resident inspector at the Wolf Creek 
Generating Station. 
 
In accordance with Title 10 of the Code of Federal Regulations (10 CFR) 2.390, “Public Inspections, Exemptions, 
Requests for Withholding,” a copy of this letter, its enclosure, and your response (if any) will be available 
electronically for public inspection in the NRC’s Public Document Room or from the Publicly Available Records 
(PARS) component of the NRC's Agencywide Documents Access and Management System (ADAMS).  ADAMS is 
accessible from the NRC Web site at http://www.nrc.gov/reading-rm/adams.html (the Public Electronic Reading 
Room). 
 

Sincerely, 
 
/RA/ 
 
 
Geoffrey B. Miller 
Chief, Technical Support Branch 
Division of Reactor Safety 
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